IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SCO4-1521

RICHARD ENGLAND,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0899641 LAW OFFICE OF TODD G. SCHER, P.L. 5600 COLLINS AVENUE #15-B MIAMI BEACH, FLORIDA 33140

TEL: 305-861-9252 FAX: 305-861-9253

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 6, 2003, a grand jury in Volusia County, Florida, returned a two-count indictment against Mr. England (R1-2). Count 1 alleged that, on or about June 25, 2001, Mr. England killed Howard Wetherell either in a premeditated manner, during the course of a robbery or attempted robbery of Wetherell by the use of blunt force trauma, or "by aiding, abetting, counseling, hiring, or otherwise procuring such offense to be committed by Michael Jackson" (R1). Count 2 alleged an armed robbery of Wetherell with a deadly weapon (a metal rod) (Id.). The Public Defender was appointed to represent Mr. England, but moved to withdraw because it had previously represented co-defendant Jackson and through that representation learned of confidential information concerning the homicide (R4). On December 2, 2003, attorney Gerard Keating was appointed to represent Mr. England (R7). Mr. England thereupon entered a written plea of not guilty (R8). On December 15, 2003, the State filed its written notice of intent to seek the death penalty (R15). Counsel filed a number of pretrial motions, including a motion to dismiss on constitutional speedy trial grounds (R22-28). Following a hearing the court denied the motion (R74-76). A

¹Shortly before trial, Mr. Keating filed a motion for the appointment of Robert A. Sanders, Jr, to be co-counsel at both trial and penalty phase (R86-89). The court granted the motion (R90).

motion to dismiss the charges was also filed based on the Jackson's recanting testimony (R285-290). Following argument, the court denied the motion (R392). Mr. England also filed a motion to suppress confessions/admissions (R299-303), which was granted in part and denied in part (R398-399).² A motion to suppress the testimony of jailhouse snitch Steven Diehl as well as documents relating to Diehl was also filed (R265-266), and subsequently denied by the court (R396-397). Mr. England also sought an order *in limine* regarding the State's use of gruesome and unfairly prejudicial autopsy photographs (R289-290)

On April 23, 2004, the State filed a notice of its intent to introduce evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or act, namely (1) an incident in November, 1987,³ in which Mr. England, while acting in a premeditated fashion or while engaged in the perpetration or attempted perpetration of a robbery, killed Robert Ryland by beating him in the head with a metal object, and also committed a robbery on Mr. Ryland with a deadly weapon by the taking of his motor vehicle; (2) an incident in June, 2001, in which Mr. England unlawfully possessed cocaine and transported

²The only statement that the court suppressed was Mr. England's statement "I don't want to talk to you" which was made while he was being questioned by State Attorney investigator Shon McGuire. The court ruled that such statement "could be fairly be susceptible of interpretation as a comment on the defendant's right to remain silent" (R399).

³Mr. England was 16 years old, and therefore a juvenile, at the time of this incident (R96).

said substance to Louisville, Kentucky (R94-97). Mr. England filed his own notice of intent to introduce reverse-*Williams* rule⁴ evidence in the form of co-defendant Jackson's involvement in the July, 2000, first-degree murder of a homosexual man, James Beamon, with whom Jackson was living at the time and who Jackson murdered in a strikingly similar fashion as the victim in the case in which Mr. England and Jackson were charged (R304-309). As to the motion filed by Mr. England, the court granted the motion in part, concluding that there was "clear and convincing evidence" that Jackson was Beamon's assailant and that there were "striking similarities between the instant murder charge and the prior crime" (R404-405).⁵ Thus, the court concluded that due to the uncertainty about whether Jackson would testify at trial, the defense could, outside the presence of the jury, introduce the evidence and seek a ruling from the court at that time (*Id.*).

⁴Williams v. State, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959).

⁵Among the "striking similarities" found by the court between Jackson's assault on Beamon and the facts of the instant case were (1) the beatings were accomplished with solid objects (fire poker, possible pipe); (2) the beatings were to the heads and faces of both victims; (3) the beatings were "very brutal"; (4) there was much blood spatter; (5) weapons were not located in either crime; (6) both victims were older white males; (7) both victims were homosexuals; (8) Jackson lived with both victims as a hustler; (9) both victims wanted Jackson to leave; (10) the attacks took place in the victims' homes; (11) property was taken from both victims; (12) attacks took place in the evening or very early morning; (13) the beatings resulted in severe injury or death (R405). The court did note some dissimilarities between Jackson's assault on Beamon and the facts of the instant case, but found they were "insubstantial" (*Id.*).

but subject to impeachment and/or *Williams*-rule evidence (R400). The parties later agreed that neither side would be presented its respective *Williams* rule evidence at the guilt phase (R1378-79), although the defense did seek to introduce the reverse *Williams* rule evidence as to Jackson at the penalty phase (R1949).

Mr. England also filed motions with respect to the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme (R104-129; 136-49; 150-58; 159-76; 178-208; 209-225; 239-262; 291-298). Mr. England also filed a motion for a statement of particulars requesting the State divulge what aggravating circumstances it intended to rely on (R267-279), as well as a motion to bar imposition of the death sentence as unconstitutional under *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) (R310-324). All of these motions were denied (R393, 394, 395, 401, 407-08). Mr. England also filed extensive objections, on constitutional grounds, to the standard penalty phase jury instructions (R326-384); these objections were denied (R390).

On May 24, 2004, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of first-degree premeditated murder *and* felony murder on Count I, and guilty of robbery with a deadly weapon as alleged in Count II (R409-410). A penalty phase took place on May 27, 2004, following which time the jury returned an 8-4 death recommendation (R415). After the penalty phase, defense counsel filed a motion requesting the appointment of a confidential mental health expert to examine Mr. England, contending that counsel had reason to believe Mr. England was either incompetent

to proceed or that he may have been insane at the time of the offense (R417-418). The motion was granted by court order dated July 2, 2004 (R444-445). On that same day, Mr. England moved for an unopposed continuance of the *Spencer* hearing, then set for July 9, 2004, noting that the court had yet to issue an order on the mental health expert's appointment and that even were the court to grant it at this late date, the anticipated mental health expert would not have sufficient time to evaluate Mr. England and prepare an adequate report by the July 9 *Spencer* hearing (R456-57). The court, however, on July 6, 2004, denied the requested continuance (R458). The *Spencer* hearing ultimately took place in two parts, July 9, 2004, and July 16, 2004.⁶ Following the *Spencer* hearing, both the State and the defense filed sentencing memoranda (R422-430; 431-439). Mr. England also filed a memorandum regarding the issue of proportionality (R440-443).

On July 23, 2004, the trial court issued its findings of fact in support of the death penalty on Count I (R461-469). The court found the following aggravators established beyond a reasonable doubt: (1) the capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment, community control, or felony probation, pursuant to §921.141 (5)(a), Fla. Stat.;⁷ (2)

⁶No mental health testimony was presented at the *Spencer* hearing from the court-appointed expert.

⁷The court found that this while this aggravator was a factor to be considered, "it is neither a heaver or great factor, nor a light or minor factor, but

the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, pursuant to §921.141 (5)(b);⁸ (3) the capital felony was committed during the course of an enumerated felony (robbery), pursuant to §921.141 (5)(d);⁹ and the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel, pursuant to §921.141 (5)(h) (R461-462).¹⁰

The court found that no statutory mitigating factors had been reasonably established. The court rejected the no significant history or prior criminal activity statutory mitigating factor pursuant to §921.141 (6)(b), noting that the evidence established the contrary (R463). The court rejected that Mr. England was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance under because Mr. England denied committing the murder and because although there was "some evidence of drug and alcohol consumption by the Defendant prior to the murder," it was "not enough to establish this mitigator" (R463). As to whether the statutory mitigator under §921.141 (6)(d), Fla. Stat., had been established, the court noted

rather a medium factor" (R461).

⁸The court used Mr. England's prior conviction as a juvenile for second-degree murder (R462). The court afforded "great weight" to this aggravator (R462).

⁹The court found that this aggravator "is entitled to consideration and is afforded medium weight" (R462).

¹⁰The court afforded this factor "great weight" (R462).

there was "much conflicting evidence" as to whether Mr. England was an accomplice to Jackson or whether his participation was relatively minor; the court, however, found that Mr. England was a "full and actual participant in the murder, and together with Jackson actually beat Weatherell" (R463). The court also rejected the statutory mitigator regarding the defendant's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law under §921.141 (6)(f), Fla. Stat., because "no mental health issue [was] raised" and the testimony regarding drug/alcohol use was "not enough" to establish this factor (R464). The court likewise rejected the age statutory mitigator under §921.141 (6)(g) as not being a factor "in mitigation or otherwise" (R464).

The court found that evidence reasonably established a number of nonstatutory mitigating factors. The court first addressed the factor of disparate treatment, concluding that Mr. England and Michael Jackson were "equally culpable of the murder" (R464). However, the court found that Mr. England's sentence was not "legally" disparate in light of the Court's decision in *Kight v. State*, 784 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 2001) (R465). The court then discussed, in detail, the additional testimony of nonstatutory mitigation presented by Mr. England at both the penalty phase and *Spencer* hearing (R465-468), and made the following findings:

The Court found no statutory mitigators to be established. On the other hand, the Court finds the non-statutory mitigators to be strong and entitled to substantial weight. The defense, despite not being

allowed enough time by the Defendant[] to fully develop the sentencing phase, was able to portray the Defendant's other side. In stark contrast to being a brutal killer, they showed him to be intelligent, a quick learner, a hard worker. He is personable, trustworthy, a leader, a good friend, and capable of a loving relationship. He is all these things despite a terrible childhood full of abuse, uncertainty, and abandonment. This Court keeps coming back to the testimony of Defendant's Mother, Inez Fyffe. Her abusive and alcoholic husband, just to spite and hurt her, kept his one non-biological child and let her take the other two children. The Defendant was torn from his siblings and raised by this abusive man. One cannot help but wonder what would have happened if the Defendant had a normal childhood. If the Defendant had a decent childhood this opinion may not have been necessary. The Court believes these mitigators, at least in part, explain the four jury votes for life. The Court gives these non-statutory mitigators great weight.

(R468) (footnote omitted).

After concluding that the jury's 8-4 recommendation for death "is supported by the evidence," the trial court sentenced Mr. England to the death penalty on Count I, and to a concurrent term of natural life on Count II (R472; 474; 477).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE PROSECUTION CASE

In early July, 2001, after neighbors became concerned that the victim had not been seen or responded to phone calls for some time, they decided to enter his apartment and discovered that it was in "very bad shape" with a pronounced odor inside (R598-99). After looking around the downstairs area, the neighbors went upstairs but the master bedroom was locked (R600-01). The victim's car, a green

Mercury Sable, was not in the garage (R601-02). Because the victim had a tendency to go on trips, the neighbors did not want to jump to any conclusions (R601), but on July 2, they decided to call the police (R601-02). After the police arrived, the victim's body was discovered (R602).

Officer Raymond Cruz responded scene and entered the apartment (R604). Being unable to gain entry to the upstairs bedroom, Cruz called the fire department, which did gain entry by force (R605-06). The first thing Cruz noticed was blood all over the room, and, upon entering the bathroom, the victim's body was discovered in the tub (R606). The area was thereupon secured as a crime scene (R607).

At approximately 9:50 PM on July 2, 2001, FDLE analyst Timothy Mell responded to the scene (R611-12). Mell was assisted by Stacy Colton and Kelly May, also of FDLE, as well as Tom Youngman of the Daytona Beach Police Department (R614). The earliest date of newspapers found at the front door of the apartment was June 26, 2001, up through July 2, 2001 (R615). When entering the bedroom, Mell observed a large amount of blood, and there was a "powdery substance" on the blood that was on the floor (R616; 632; 954). A lot of the furniture also was covered with "a mist type powdery substance" (R616-17; 954). Mell had no personal knowledge of what this substance was, although he speculated that the substance hampered his ability to obtain latent fingerprints from

the condominium (R647-48).

Mell then explained to the jury, through the use of poster-board enlargements of photographs, the layout of the condominium (R619 et seq.). One of the photographs depicted a fireplace in the living room, along with fireplace tools (R621). Another photograph depicted a marker on a table and a pen on the floor in front of a lounge chair in the living room (R622-23); the two writing instruments, a Rub A Dub pen and a permanent marker, were impounded and introduced into evidence (R641; State's Composite Exhibit 19). An attempt was made to collect latent fingerprints from the condominium, and although one print was located on the refrigerator, it was the only one that was collected and it was never identified with anyone (R625). Mr. England's fingerprints were never found on either of the writing instruments (R645). In a garbage can located in the second bedroom, Mell located and impounded two cigarette butts (R630), which were later introduced into evidence (R643) (State's Composite Exhibit 20). A piece of shower curtain from the bathroom associated with the second bedroom also had what was a presumptive blood stain, and the cutting from the curtain was impounded and introduced into evidence (R628; 644; State's Exhibit 21). The bed in the master bedroom also had what appeared to be blood stains on the bedspread and pillow area (R633-34). Blood had seeped through to the bottom of the mattress and was also located on the carpet between the two mattresses (R634). A green washcloth

was also located by the blood (R635). A blue chair in the master bedroom also had what was presumptively blood on the covering on the arm, on the back of the chair, and on the bottom of the chair cushion (R637). The jury was also shown, in State's Exhibit 16, three photographs of the victim in a state of decomposition and bloating (R638). Three photographs comprising Exhibit 17 depicted the technicians removing the different items (towels and pieces of plastic) that were covering the victim's body (R639). A pillow had also been covering the victim's face (R639). The victim was not wearing anything save for a pajama top (R640). A photograph collected in the hallway of the victim's apartment was also impounded (R641; State's Exhibit 18); no fingerprints belonging to Mr. England were located on the photograph, however, despite an attempt by the laboratory to process the photograph for fingerprints (R645). No comparison between the latent fingerprints found at the scene and those of Samuel Jackson was ever conducted by technician Mell because "that wasn't my job to do that" (R645).

Thomas Youngman assisted the FDLE technicians in the collection of evidence at the victim's condominium (R652-54). Youngman testified that State's Exhibit 18, which was the photograph collected in the hallway, had the words "pervert, fuck off" written on it with a marker-type writing instrument (R655; 955). There was an arrow pointed toward the individual depicted in the photograph, and the words "fuck with us" were written below (R656; 955). *See also* R663.

Youngman also testified that the fireplace poker was missing from the fireplace set (R657). He later went back and collected the fireplace set because it could have been involved in the crime (R657-58; State's Exhibit 22).

N. Leroy Parker, a crime lab analyst from FDLE, was admitted as an expert in the field of blood stain pattern analysis (R665-69). Parker responded the crime scene, where he documented and photographed the relevant areas of the scene (R676-77). Parker testified to his opinion that in the master bedroom the victim was forcefully beaten in several different locations including on or near the floor, next to the door, near the dresser, and the nightstand next to the bed (R678). Some of the impacts occurred when the victim was upright and some when he was on or near the floor (R679). Parker explained the location of the blood spattering by use of a series of photographs introduced into evidence (R681-705; State's Exhibits 23 through 30). Parker's conclusion was that there was a lot of movement by the victim because there were impact sites in different locations, and the victim was in different positions at the time of the forceful impacts (R705-06).

Claude Dove, a security manager with Bell South (R707), testified that in June, 2001, the telephone number 386-253-0460 belonged to the victim (R710-11). Dove was able to produce a "call detail" document, which listed the day, time, and number called for the subscriber's phone number (R712-13). According to Dove, a number of phone calls were made from the phone number listed as that belonging

to the victim on June 25, 2001, June 26, 2001, and July 2, 2001 (R713-17). Several of these calls was made in the early morning hours of June 26, 2001, to Eugene and Ivy Evans, who were friends of Mr. England (R780-82; 786). None of these calls was answered by either Eugene or Ivy Evans, but they did have an answering machine (R783; 787). Ivy Evans recalled receiving these calls in the middle of the night, and testified that she heard Mr. England's voice on the answering machine asking for her husband (R788-90). She later erased the answering machine messages (R789-92).

Karen Duggins was a friend of Mr. England's, and subsequently they developed a personal sexual relationship (R754-55). Through Mr. England, Duggins met Michael Jackson (T756-57). One time, Duggins went to the condo where Jackson was living with his "uncle" in order to find Mr. England (R757). In the evening hours of Monday, June 25, she went over to the condominium after Jackson called her to bring back some music CDs he had previously left at her house (R758-59). When she got to the condo, Jackson was in the back parking lot by the pool area. She saw him and gave him back his CDs (R760-61). As she was getting ready to leave, Jackson told her that Mr. England was on his way over and, shortly thereafter, Mr. England showed up on his bicycle (R761-62). She spent

¹¹An objection on best evidence grounds was overruled (R788).

about 45 minutes or so with them out by the pool area and then she left (R762).

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