IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD ENGLAND,	
Appellant,	
v.	Case No. SC04-1521
	Lower Tribunal No. 2003-35769
STATE OF FLORIDA,	CFAES
Appellee.	
• •	/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Telephone: (386) 238-4990 Facsimile: (386) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

England filed a motion to suppress the statements of inmates: inmate Diehl because he signed a contract with Appellant not to divulge information, and inmates Seals and Garcia because they were allegedly working as state agents. (Vol.II, R265-266) Before the hearing, the defense limited the motion to the testimony of Diehl since the State did not intend to call Seals and Garcia as witnesses. (Vol.III, R396; Vol.V, R960-61) The motion was denied. (Vol.III, R396-397)

England moved to exclude autopsy photos. (Vol.II, R289-290) He filed a Notice of Alibi, listing two witnesses and claiming he had been at Molly Brown's

¹ Cites to the record and hearings will be by volume number, followed by "R." Cites to the trial transcript will be by volume number, followed by "TT." Cites to the supplemental record will be "SR."

and Razzles (nightclubs), then to an after-hours party at one of the witness' house. (Vol.III, R385-386)

At the status conference on April 16, 2004, Appellant refused to waive speedy trial in spite of the fact defense counsel stated he needed more time to prepare. (Vol.IV, R657-681) Trial was set for May 10, 2004.

The case was tried by jury from May 10 to May 24, 2004. After jury selection, the court heard pre-trial motions. (Vol.V, R688-868) The first motion was a motion to dismiss the charges because Michael Jackson, the co-defendant recanted his testimony. (Vol.II, R285; Vol.V, R691-708) The motion was based on a deposition conducted May 7, 2004, which was inconsistent with Jackson's four prior statements. (Vol.V, R697, 707) The motion was denied.

The second motion was Appellant's motion to admit reverse *Williams* Rule evidence. (Vol.V, R708-759, 770-804) Appellant filed a Notice of Evidence of Other Crimes, Wrongs or Acts involving co-defendant Michael Jackson, i.e., "reverse *Williams* Rule" evidence. (Vol.II, R304-307) The motion alleged that Jackson committed a similar crime at age seventeen (17) when he attempted to murder a man with whom he lived, similar to the situation with Howard Wetherell, the victim in the present case. Jackson had also solicited another person to help him kill Wetherell. Appellant requested the court take judicial notice of the police reports and files in Jackson's prior cases. (Vol.III, R391) The motion was granted

with conditions.(Vol.III, R404-405) However, after the State proffered evidence of the *Williams* rule evidence against England, the parties stipulated that neither party would present *Williams* Rule/reverse *Williams* rule evidence. (Vol.X, TT1379)

The motions to declare the death penalty statute unconstitutional were denied. (Vol.V, R762-769; Vol. VI, TT26)

The motion to suppress statements was heard next. (Vol.V, R805-882) England moved to suppress statements arguing that when he was arrested on August 2, 2001, on a VOP warrant, he was implicitly arrested on the murder charge for which he was under investigation. England alleged that the VOP arrest was a "subterfuge" to take him into custody without the benefit of an attorney or first appearance. Furthermore, even though England had an attorney on the VOP charge who was negotiating with the State Attorney investigator and offering England's assistance on the murder charge, and even though that attorney allowed the State to interview England, the *Miranda* rights were not complete. (Vol.II, R299-303) The motion was granted in part and denied in part. (Vol.III, R398-399).

Before the testimony of Reinaldo DeLeon, Appellant moved *in limine* to preclude England's statement to DeLeon that "I killed the victim like I killed the last time," that Appellant and DeLeon were in State prison together, and that England would kill Jackson if Jackson told on him. (Vol.VIII, TT799) The motion

was granted. (Vol.VIII, TT 801) The prosecutor advised DeLeon of the rulings. (Vol.VIII, TT802) The trial judge later reversed the ruling regarding England's statement that he would kill Jackson if he told on him. (Vol.VIII, TT822)

At one point in the trial, defense counsel indicated he had a difference of opinion with England. Counsel had received a letter from an unnamed inmate at the jail offering to refute the testimony of Diehl and Garcia. (Vol.IX, TT1063) Defense counsel did not want to call the witness, but England wanted the witness to be called. (Vol.IX, TT1064) England also wanted to call inmate Seals as a witness. Seals was listed as a State witness. (Vol.IX, TT1065) The trial judge offered his opinion that the decisions were up to the defendant, but advised England that he had "good counsel who is trying to do a good job for you." (Vol.IX, TT1069) After counsel discussed the issue with England, England agreed that Seals would not be called. The unnamed inmate witness would be announced the next day if the defense decided to call him. (Vol.IX, TT1074)

During the trial, Appellant moved for a confidential handwriting expert. (Vol.IX, TT1106-07) The motion was granted. (Vol.IX, TT1109)

After the State rested, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal. (Vol.X, TT1381-1384) The motion was denied. (Vol.X, TT1388) The motion was renewed at the close of the defense case. Appellant personally stated he did not choose to testify. (Vol.X, TT1503) The motion for judgment of acquittal was renewed at the

close of all the evidence. (Vol.X, TT1604) The motion was denied. (Vol.X, TT 1605)

During the 100-page cross-examination of Jackson, the following exchange occurred:

Q: Do you remember telling your brother Sam that as you were riding in the car up to Walton County?

A: I told him what I did. He—he told them his own version to try to help me out I'm sure.

Q: So now among law enforcement – the law enforcement is playing a game or lying against you and now your brother is included in this; is that what you're saying here?

A: I'm saying that he lied to try to help me out, yeah.

Q: And do you remember telling your brother that?

A: Put it off on Rich. He's already got a murder charge. You'll get off easy.

Q: So I want to make this clear. I want to make this absolutely clear. Are you saying that you did not tell your brother Sam, the one that you went running to, the one that you confided in, that you and Rich beat Mr. Wetherell to death?

A: No.

(Vol.X, TT1453)

During the testimony of Oliver VanValkenburg, the witness testified that he had been shown photos by law enforcement approximately three weeks to one month before trial. (Vol.X, TT1551). Defense counsel objected and requested a

Richardson hearing. (Vol.X, TT 1551) Oliver testified that he had seen five to six photos and picked out Jackson and England. (Vol.X, TT 1554) Oliver had already said he would have no problem identifying the two men at the party. The reason for showing him the photos was to identify which man took the necklace. (Vol.X, TT1555) The court found the non-disclosure inadvertent and non-prejudicial. (Vol.X, TT1560) The defense then presented information that a complaint had been filed against Oliver in 2003, but the case was closed the same day. (Vol.X, TT1561-1568). The trial judge ruled the complaint was inadmissible. (Vol.X, TT1568)

After closing argument but before jury instructions, defense counsel indicated that Tom Anderson, a defense witness for the penalty phase, called over the weekend that alternate Juror Brown said "he's guilty" to another juror. If Brown was going to sit on the jury, defense counsel said he "may have" an objection. (Vol.XI, TT 1776-77)

The jury returned verdicts of guilty of First Degree Premeditated Murder and Felony Murder, and Robbery with a Deadly Weapon. (Vol.III, R 410; Vol. XI, TT1807) Before the penalty phase, the trial judge indicated that the defense had moved to remove Juror Brown as an alternate and move Juror Butts into the first alternate position. The State had no objection. (Vol.XII, TT1818) England personally asked the court for a mistrial. (Vol.XII, TT1819) The trial judge stated

that defense counsel had suggested the compromise he outlined, and they should talk it over. (Vol.XII, TT 1819-20) England stated he wanted a mistrial because Juror Brown made the statement to Juror #8. (Vol.XII, TT1819, 1820) Defense counsel repeated the motion for mistrial. (Vol.XII, TT1821) The State objected because the motion was untimely. (Vol.XII, TT1823) In the meantime, Juror DeFeo was sick and in the hospital, so one of the alternates needed to move into her slot. (Vol.XII, TT1821)

The trial judge asked for testimony. Tom Anderson testified that he worked with England and was a mitigation witness. (Vol.XII, TT1830) He sat in the courtroom during the trial. (Vol.XII, TT1831) He was "almost 99 percent sure" he heard a juror tell another juror "He's guilty." (Vol.XII, TT 1832) Anderson was about 15 feet from the jurors. He had some doubt that he heard correctly. He told his wife "I'm not really sure if I heard it or not." (Vol.XII, TT1834) He was "almost certain" he heard something. (Vol.XII, TT 1835) He did not know what "He's guilty" referred to. (Vol.XII, TT1837)

Juror Brown testified she did not talk about the case to another juror and did not say "He's guilty." (Vol.XII, TT1846, 1848) Juror #8, Ms. Dixon, testified that Juror Brown did not say anything about Appellant being guilty. (Vol.XII, TT1851) The trial judge found there was no juror misconduct and denied the motion for mistrial. He also stated he was not going to remove Juror Brown. (Vol.XII,

TT1851) Alternate Juror Brown took the place of the sick juror, Ms. DeFeo. At the suggestion of defense counsel, Alternate Juror Butts took the place of Ms. Klink who had continuously informed the court of childcare problems and whose child was currently in the court administrator's office. (Vol.XII, TT1854) After the replacements, there were no alternate jurors. (Vol.XII, TT1852)

The penalty phase took place May 27, 2004. The jury returned an advisory sentence of eight (8) to four (4) recommending death. (Vol.III, R415) After the penalty phase, defense counsel requested the assistance of a mental health expert. (Vol.III, R417-418) Dr. Jeffrey Danziger was appointed. (Vol.III, R444) His evaluation was sealed and filed. (Vol.III, R488)

The *Spencer* hearing was held July 9 and July 16, 2004. Appellant was sentenced to death on July 23, 2004, for the murder at which time the trial judge filed the following findings of fact supporting the sentence. (Vol.III, R481, 461-469)

II. AGGRAVATING FACTORS:

The Court finds the following aggravating factors exist beyond a reasonable doubt:

1. Florida Statute 921.141(5)(a): The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control or on felony probation.

This aggravator was clearly established through the testimony of

Defendant's probation officer and State Exhibit "63". While it is a factor to be considered it is neither a heavy or great factor, nor a light or minor factor, but rather a medium factor.

2. Florida Statute 921.141 (5)(b): The Defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person.

This aggravator was definitely established. A judgment for second degree murder was introduced (State Exhibit "62"). The jury also heard details of the 1987 murder through the testimony of the Defendant's then co-defendant, Johnny Towner. This 1987 murder was strikingly similar to the present murder. In short it involved the Defendant, in a situation involving homosexual overtones, beating a much older male to death with a metal object, i.e., motorcycle exhaust pipe. This beating was brutal (see State Exhibit "61"). This aggravator must be given great weight.

3. Florida Statute 921 141 (5)(d): The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged or was an accomplice, in the commission of, or an attempt to commit, or flight after committing or attempting to commit, any robbery; sexual battery; aggravated child abuse; abuse of an elderly person or disabled adult resulting in great bodily harm, permanent disability, or permanent disfigurement; arson; burglary; kidnapping; aircraft piracy; or unlawful throwing, placing or discharging of a destructive device or bomb.

Robbery was discussed by Co-Defendant and Defendant prior to the murder and was a motive for this murder. The Defendant and Co-Defendant took many items from Mr. Wetherall's condo (see State

9

-

² Both England and Co-Defendant Jackson were perpetrators of prior violent acts. This gave rise to the State attempting to introduce the Ryland murder in its case in chief as Williams Rule evidence and the defense attempting to admit Jackson's prior act as reverse Williams Rule. This Court ruled the defense reverse Williams Rule would be admissible and was about to rule on the State motion when the parties informed the Court they reached an agreement that evidence of neither prior violent incident would be introduced at the guilt/innocence phase. (footnote in trial court order)

Exhibits "33-37"), and tried to fence them in Orlando through a former cell mate of Defendant's. In fact, Defendant at trial actually admitted to fencing these items. This aggravator is entitled to consideration and is afforded medium weight.

4. Florida Statute 921.141(52(h) ("HAC"): The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

This Court specifically finds that England fully participated in this actual beating (see State Exhibits "57 - 59"). It was a particularly brutal beating. Blood was everywhere (see particularly State Exhibits "23-30"). There was evidence Mr. Wetherall begged for his life, but was told to shut up. He moved around the bedroom while fending off blows. He experienced pain before losing consciousness. He was hit so hard in the head with the fire poker that his spine fractured. This was an exceptionally violent and brutal death. This aggravator must be given great weight.

5. Florida Statute 921.141(7): Victim impact evidence.

The Court did receive impact evidence. The Court however did not consider it as an aggravating factor, and did not use this evidence in the weighing process.

III. MITIGATING FACTORS:

The Court finds no statutory mitigating factors to have been reasonably established by the evidence. The Court however will address all the statutory mitigating factors. The Court did find several non-statutory mitigators and will discuss then.

1. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(a): The defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity.

This factor was not established. To the contrary Defendant murdered Mr. Ryland in 1987.

2. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(b): The capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or

emotional disturbance.

Defendant denied committing the murder. There was some evidence of drug and alcohol consumption by the Defendant prior to the murder, but not enough to establish this mitigator.

3. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(c): The victim was a participant in the defendant's conduct or consented to tire act.

This mitigator was not established.

4. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(d): The defendant was an accomplice in the capital felony committed by another person and his or her participation was relatively minor.

There was much conflicting evidence presented on this issue. At the sentencing phase the Defendant took the stand and protested he did not participate in the murder, only the fencing of the stolen goods. Yet, there was substantial evidence he fully participated in the murder, including actually beating Wetherall with the poker. This Court specifically finds the Defendant was a full and actual participant in the murder, and together with Jackson actually beat Wetherall.

At the July 16, 2004 continuation of the Spencer Hearing the defense argued that the testimony of Brian Merrill should be considered as evidence that Defendant was not a full participant in the murder. Likewise the defense argued the Court should consider the Co-Defendant's horrible beating of Frank Beamon as evidence indicating Defendant was not a full participant in the Wetherall murder. The Court rejects both arguments.

5. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(e): The defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person.

³ See testimony of Diehl, DeLeon, and earlier statement of Jackson. (footnote in trial court order).

This mitigator was not argued or established.

6. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(f): The capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his or her conduct or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired.

There was no mental health issue raised. There was some evidence of drug and alcohol use on the night/morning of the murder, but not enough to establish this factor. Additionally, Defendant's sister mentioned too much alcohol use, but the Court will address this under non-statutory mitigators.

7. Florida Statute 921.141(6)(E): The age of the defendant at the time of the crime.

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